
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
Wednesday 7 July 2021 at 7.30pm 

Council Chamber, Civic Centre 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any matters on 

the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 5) 
 
4. Matters Arising   
 
5. Written Questions   
 
6. Procedure for Consideration of Planning Applications   
 
 At the discretion of the Chair, the following procedure will apply to 

the consideration of planning items:- 
 
* Planning Officer presents reports. 

 
* Comments invited from members of the public who have 

registered with the Governance Support Section (01279 
446057) at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting, as 
follows: 

 
- 3 (maximum) against an application.  

  - 3 (maximum) for an application. 
  - each speaker is limited to 3 minutes (maximum). 
 

* Comments invited from the applicant/agent for a maximum 
of 3 minutes (who has also given at least 24 hours notice to 
the Governance Support Section) of their wish to speak. 

 
* Councillors’ questions and clarifications. 

 
* Officers respond to the technical planning questions raised 

as directed by the Chair. 
 

* Councillors debate and make a decision. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



7. HW/FUL/21/00231 - 20 Roden Close, Harlow, Essex, CM17 0LE  (Pages 
6 - 26) 

 
8. HW/HSE/21/00212 - 18 Whieldon Grange, Harlow, Essex, CM17 9WG  

(Pages 27 - 35) 
 
9. References from Other Committees   
 
 Any references received after the publication of this agenda will be 

circulated separately. 
 

10. Matters of Urgent Business   
 
 Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be 

received as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to be 
specified in the minutes. 
 

 
 



 

MINUTES OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
HELD ON 

 
8 June 2021 7.30  - 9.25 pm 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Michael Garnett (Chair) 
Councillor Sue Livings (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Jean Clark 
Councillor Bob Davis 
Councillor Mike Danvers 
Councillor James Leppard 
Councillor Nicky Purse 
Councillor Clive Souter (substitute for Councillor Ash Malik) 

 
Officers 
Gavin Cooper, Development Manager 
Nicholas Fu, Senior Planning Officer 
Julie Galvin, Legal Services Manager 
Adam Rees, Governance Support Officer 
Lisa Thornett, Corporate Governance Support Officer 
Tanusha Waters, Planning and Building Control Manager 
 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ash Malik. Councillor 
Clive Souter was in attendance as his substitute. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Clive Souter declared non-pecuniary interests in items 8 and 9 
(HW/FUL/20/00215 and HW/HSE/21/00075) as an Essex County 
Councillor for Harlow West. 
 
Councillor Michael Garnett declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 7 
(HW/FUL/20/00569) as the applicant was Essex County Council. 
 

3. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 14 April 2021 
be agreed and signed as a correct record by the Chair. 

 
4. MATTERS ARISING  

 
None. 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



5. WRITTEN QUESTIONS  
 
None. 
 

6. PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 

RESOLVED that the procedure be noted. 
 

7. HW/FUL/20/00569 - PURFORD GREEN DEVELOPMENT SITE  
 
The Committee received a report and application (HW/FUL/20/00569) for 
the demolition of existing building and redevelopment to provide 35 
dwellings incorporating parking, open space, landscaping and associated 
infrastructure. 
 
The Committee also received a supplementary report which contained 
additional representations and amended conditions. 
 
Presentations were heard from an objector, Councillor Dan Swords, and 
the agent. 
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to a 
Section 106 agreement and the conditions in the report, as 
amended by the change to the heads of terms of the legal 
agreement and conditions in the supplementary report. 

 
8. HW/FUL/20/00215 - STAPLE TYE PETROL SERVICE STATION, 

SOUTHERN WAY  
 
The Committee received a report and application (HW/FUL/20/00215) for 
replacing four existing parking spaces by two electric vehicle (EV) 
charging bays. Installation of associated electrical cabinets, substation and 
metering and switched gear enclosure. 
 
Presentations were heard from two objectors. 
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is REFUSED for the following 
reason: The proposal by reason of height and design would result in 
a detrimental impact on the visual amenity of neighbouring 
residents contrary to policy PL2 of the Harlow Local Development 
Plan 2020. 

 
9. HW/HSE/21/00075 - 113 COPSE HILL  

 
The Committee received a report and application (HW/HSE/21/00075), a 
single storey infill front extension, single storey rear extension, two storey 
side extension and alteration to existing fenestration. 
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
conditions in the report and the following additional condition: 

4



 
i) Acceptable construction hours are between 8.00 and 18.30 

on Mondays to Fridays and 8.00 and 13.00 on Saturdays. No 
construction work should take place or plant operated 
outside these hours. 

 
REASON: In the interest of neighbouring amenity and to 
accord with policy PL2 of the Harlow Local Development 
Plan 2020. 

 
10. HW/FUL/21/00148 - HARLOW LEISUREZONE, SECOND AVENUE  

 
The Committee received a report and application (HW/FUL/21/00148) for 
the change of use of science education area to accommodation for 
religious teachings (use Class F). 
 
The Committee also received a supplementary report which contained five 
additional objections from the public. 
 
Representations were heard from an objector and Councillor Tony 
Edwards. 
 

RESOLVED that planning permission is REFUSED for the following 
reason: The proposed development by reason of discrimination 
would result in a detrimental impact on Harlow residents and users 
of the leisure centre. The proposal would therefore be contrary to 
policies PL1 and L2 of the Harlow Local Plan 2020. 

 
11. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  

 
None. 
 

12. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

5



 
 

 

REPORT TO DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
7 July 2021 
  
REFERENCE: HW/FUL/21/00231 OFFICER: Nicholas Fu 

APPLICANT: Mr Martin Stace 

LOCATION: 20 Roden Close 
Harlow 
Essex 
CM17 0LE 
  

PROPOSAL: 
 

Demolition of existing detached bungalow and garage and 
erection of one pair of semi-detached dwellings 

 
LOCATION PLAN 

 
 

REASON BROUGHT TO COMMITTEE:   

Two objections have been received which are contrary to the officer recommendation  

6

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 

Application Site and Surroundings 

 
Roden Close and Windmill Fields are two roads that create one continuous horseshoe shaped 
residential loop road from Sheering Road. The two sections of the loop road, apart from the 
difference in road name, are spatially separated by two different house types, design and 
layout.  Specifically, Windmill Fields contains mostly semi-detached and terraced dwellings on 
modest sized plots and of similar form and scale with the external facing materials varying, 
whereas Roden Close is characterised by detached dwellings sitting on a large plot with 
varying design and form. Roden Close has a slight gradient such that the properties on the 
east of highway have a slopped front curtilage and the houses are sitting on a higher ground 
level.  
 
The application site, 20 Roden Close, sits at the bend of the highway where Roden Close 
meets Windmill Fields.  The application site presents itself with unique character, which 
reflects is position between the two distinct housing developments. It also has one of the 
largest garden spaces amongst the houses on Roden Close and Windmill Fields. The dwelling 
at 20 Roden Close is one of the few remaining bungalows in this area where most of the 
properties are two-storey in height.  
 
There are some mature trees within the rear garden, with some substantial shrubs and 
hedgerow on the front and side boundaries. They are not protected by TPO.  
 
The site is not within the curtilage of a Listed Building and is not located within a Conservation 
Area.  
 
Details of the Proposal 
 
The proposal relates to the demolition of the existing bungalow and erection of a pair of 
two-storey semi-detached dwellings.  The scale of the building has been reduced in response 
to the objections from local residents.  
 
The proposed building would be rectangular shaped with a simple dual-pitched roof. It would 
have a width of 19.045m, depth of 11.75m and maximum height of 7.3m.  The proposed 
building would sit at least 1.5m from both side boundaries.  
 
The building would be finished externally mostly with light grey colour render, with the 
expectation of black facing brickwork around the front entrance area.  
 
The dwellings would be served by a new shared access in the middle of the plot, with 2x 
parking spaces for each house at the front. In response to comments from the Highway 
Officer, the width of the access has been increased from 4m to 5m.  
 
Most of the front boundary hedge would be removed, but new landscaping is proposed to be 
on both side of the front curtilage.  
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:  
 
There is no relevant planning history. 
 

7



 
 

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

Internal and External Consultees 
 
Essex County Council - Highways 
 
No objection in principle 
 
Roden Close is an unclassified residential road, so there is no objection in principle for the 
proposed access. The lamp column would have to be moved as part of any crossover works 
that are undertaken within the highway. 
 
The access width needs to be widened to 5m min, and the bound gravel is not ideal on a slope 
as it will spill out into the highway.  
 
HDC - Consultant Arborist 
 
No objection  
 
The submitted arboricultural information has clarified the tree removals, so it is clear what is 
being lost within the site, and therefore can be set against the potential for replacing within a 
landscaping scheme. The tree losses noted on site, are not deemed to be significant to the 
local amenity, and it would be expected mitigation planting can restore any loss in amenity the 
site currently retains. 
 
A condition should be imposed to ensure that the proposed development will be supported by 
a fit-for-purpose Arboricultural Method Statement.  
 

Neighbours and Additional Publicity 
 
Number of Letters Sent: 10 
Total Number of Representations Received: 7 
Date Site Notice Expired: 28 May 2021 
Date Press Notice Expired: N/A 
 

Summary of Representations Received   
 
7 objections have been received from the local residents. They object to the application for the 
following reasons:  

 The proposal to replace a detached bungalow by a pair of two-storey semi-detached 
would be out of keeping with the character of Roden Close.  

 The design of the proposal does not fit in with the rest of Roden Close, and does not 
include energy efficiency design.  

 The proposal would result on an overdevelopment of the plot.  

 The two-storey building would result in overshadowing and overbearing impact to the 
neighbour residents.  

 The new dwellings would overlook into the neighbouring properties and cause privacy 
concerns.  

 The total 4x parking spaces are insufficient for 2x four-bed houses. This would result in 
on-street parking problem.  

 The proposed access is directly facing a junction and would cause highway safety 
concerns.  

8



 
 

 

 The removal of trees within the site would harm the appearance of the streetscene and 
impacts on the local wildlife.  

 The lamppost would have to be relocated.  

 There should be a covenant preventing the demolition of building and the subdivision 
of this plot.   

 The demolition and construction would cause significant disturbance to the living 
condition of nearby residents.  

 

PLANNING POLICY  
 
The following polices of the Harlow Local Development Plan (2020) are relevant to this 
application:  
 
PL1:  Design Principles for Development  
PL2:  Amenity Principles for Development 
H2:  Residential Development  
H4:  Loss of Housing  
PL3:  Sustainable Design, Construction and Energy Usage 
PL7:  Trees and Hedgerows 
PL8:  Green Infrastructure and Landscaping  
IN2:  Impact of Development on the Highways Network including Access and Servicing 
IN3:  Parking Standards 
 

PLANNING STANDARDS 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) - sets out the Government’s key 
economic, social and environmental objectives and the planning policies to deliver them. 
These policies will provide local communities with the tools they need to energise their local 
economies, meet housing needs, plan for a low-carbon future and protect the environmental 
and cultural landscapes that they value. It seeks to free communities from unnecessarily 
prescriptive central government policies, empowering local councils to deliver innovative 
solutions that work for their local area. 
 

Supplementary Planning Documents/Current Planning Guidance 
 
The Essex Design Guide (2005) 
The Harlow Design Guide SPD (2011) 
The Harlow and Gilston Garden Town Design Guide (2018)  
The Essex Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009)  
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT 
 
The main considerations for this application are the impacts on character and appearance, 
trees and landscaping, neighbour amenity, and parking.  
 
Principle of development  
 
Policy H4 of the Harlow Local Development Plan (HLDP) relates to the demolition of existing 
housing. The proposed development would replace the existing bungalow with a pair of 
semi-detached houses. This would result in a net gain of residential accommodation with 
higher development density, thereby satisfying criterion (a) of the policy. The principle of the 
demolition for redevelopment is therefore considered acceptable.  

9



 
 

 

 
The proposal would result in the subdivision of an existing residential curtilage. Policy H2 is 
therefore relevant. While the policy does not preclude infill developments, it provides 
protection for the established character of the area and neighbour amenity, ensures sufficient 
parking provision, makes adequate provision for refuse storage and collection, and prevents 
compromises on the potential for comprehensive redevelopment of adjacent land.  
 
The site sits within an existing residential area. It is surrounded by the rear gardens of 
neighbouring properties which appear to be under separate ownerships. It is therefore 
considered that the potential for comprehensive development with adjacent land is limited.  
 
The principle of the proposed development is therefore acceptable, subject to the compliance 
with Policy H2, including no adverse impacts on the character of the area, neighbour amenity, 
refuse collection and parking, and other relevant material considerations.  
 
Character and Appearance 
  
Policy PL1 of the HLDP and the Harlow Design Guide SPD state that proposals for 
householder developments should respect the size, grain, height, materials, features and 
layout of the building to be extended.  
 
The site sits on a distinctive location where to the North are mostly detached dwellings and to 
the South are mostly semi-detached houses.  Although a pair of semi-detached houses in this 
location would result in the site departing from the cluster of detached houses on Roden 
Close, it is considered that the resulting houses would become part of the semi-detached 
houses cluster on Windmill Fields. Given the unique setting of the application site, it is 
considered that the proposed semi-detached would be appropriate in this location and would 
be in keeping with the development pattern of the surrounding area.  
 
Due to the topography of the area, properties on this side of Roden Close are sitting on a 
slightly higher ground level than the highway. The proposal to replace a bungalow with a 
two-storey building is a noticeable increase in building bulk. Nevertheless, the two-storey 
profile is similar to other existing dwellings within the area. The proposed building also 
generally follows the front building line of the other buildings on this side of Roden Close, and 
therefore creating a front garden of similar size to the others with the main building suitably 
separated away from the highway verge. It is therefore considered that, despite the increased 
building bulk and topography of the site, the proposal would not result in an overly dominating 
building within the streetscape.  
 
It is considered that the detailed design of the proposed building would be in keeping with the 
surrounding areas as it has drawn inspirations from other semi-detached properties on this 
part of Windmill Fields. The rectangular shape and simple pitched roof are reflective of the 
grain of development on Windmill Fields. The proposed light colour painted render exterior 
and the brickwork decoration near the front entrance are in keeping with other semi-detached 
houses on this part of Windmill Fields, namely nos. 33-42. It is therefore considered that the 
form, design and scale of the proposed would be reflective of the character and appearances 
of the existing semi-detached houses on Windmill Fields. The design of the proposal is 
therefore considered acceptable.  
 
A condition on materials sample would ensure that the materials are of high quality and in 
keeping with the existing appearance of this section of Windmill Fields.  
 
Principle DG28 of the Harlow Design Guide SPD also suggests a criterion to assessment 
whether an infill development is of appropriate scale would be to compare the garden size of 
the proposed development with other properties within the area.  While the dwellings on 

10



 
 

 

Roden Close are mostly sitting on a large plot, it is established that the proposal would 
become part of the housing cluster on Windmill Fields. Therefore, it should be compared with 
other properties on Windmill Fields when it comes to garden size reference.   
 
The size of rear garden of the houses on Windmill Fields vary from 110m2 to 240m2, with the 
immediate neighbour at no.43 having an exceptionally large garden of nearby 400m2 including 
land occupied by outbuildings. The proposal including rear gardens circa 240m2 in size, which 
puts it comfortably within the Windmill Fields standards, if not on the large side. It is therefore 
considered that, with reference to Principle DG28 of the Harlow Design Guide, the proposal 
would not result in an overdevelopment or over-intensification of the application site.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of 
design, and would be appropriately respect and reflect the character and appearance of 
developments on Windmill Fields.  The application therefore complies with Policy PL1 of the 
HLDP and the Harlow Design Guide SPD.  
 
Trees and Landscaping 
 
Policies PL7 and PL8 aim to protect the trees and hedgerows which form an important part of 
the Green Infrastructure and landscaping in the district.  
 
A tree survey with a tree retaliation and removal plan have been submitted, which shows all 
hedging within the front garden and to the side of the main dwelling would be removed. A 
number of trees closer to the main dwelling are also proposed to be removed. Only the 
hedging and 4x trees with the rear garden would be retained.  
 
The trees within the rear garden are mostly screened by the dwelling and not readily visible 
from the front on Roden Close. The application site is surrounded by other properties, and 
therefore the trees within its rear garden can only be seen from a distance and through the 
gaps of other dwellings. The visual amenity quality of these distance viewpoints are also 
complimented by the trees and vegetation in other properties. Moreover, a number of trees 
and hedgerow towards the rear of the garden would be retained. It is therefore considered that 
the overall visual amenity within the centre section of this residential loop road would be 
preserved.  
 
The Council’s Arboricultural Officer was consulted and considers that the tree losses are not 
deemed to be significant to the local amenity. It is recommended that a condition requesting 
the submission of an Arboricultural Method Statement could ensure there would be sufficient 
protection to the retained trees during the development phase.   
 
The existing hedging along the front curtilage has a positive contribution the visual amenity 
quality of the streetscene by providing green and soft landscaping features. The proposed 
development would see the removal of these hedging. Nevertheless, these hedges are not 
protected from planning control and the residents could remove them without notifying the 
Local Planning Authority. In fact, some other properties on Roden Close and Windmill Fields 
have their front curtilage dominated by hardsufaced parking area. The proposal is not entirely 
out of character from this perspective. While the loss of these hedging would affect the overall 
visual amenity quality of the streetscene, it is not considered to justify a refusal on this basis. 
 
 Nevertheless, it would be expected suitable planting within the front curtilage can restore and 
mitigate the loss in amenity. A condition on the submission of landscaping details could ensure 
some front landscaping to be provided and contribute to the amenity quality of the streetscene.  
 
The existing trees are not protected by a Tree Preservation Order. There is a fall-back position 
where the trees and hedging could be removed without prior consent from the Local Planning 

11



 
 

 

Authority.  The current application has offered the opportunity to impose some degree of the 
planning control on the wider visual amenity quality through the Arboricultural Assessment 
and suitable conditions on landscaping details.    
 
It is on balance considered that the proposed development would have an acceptable impact 
on trees and landscaping, subject to appropriate worded conditions on the submission of 
Arboricultural Method Statement and  landscaping details. It is considered to be in general 
compliance with Policies PL7 and PL8 of the Harlow Local Development Plan.  
 
Although some neighbour raised concerns on the possible impact on wildlife, the application 
site does not fall within any designation of biodiversity or wildlife importance. The application 
site is situated within the central location of an established residential cluster. Given the scale 
and nature of the proposed development, it would not consider reasonable to request an 
ecological impact assessment. Nevertheless, informative clauses could be attached to remind 
the applicant about the legal responsibility on protecting bird nesting and bats.  
 
Neighbour amenity  
 
Objections were raised on neighbour amenity grounds, including impacts on overshadowing, 
overbearing and overlooking. In response to these comments, the applicant has provided an 
amended drawing to reduce the size of the proposed building which is set further away from 
the side boundaries.  
 
Policy PL2 of the HLDP and the Harlow Design Guide aim to ensure developments do not 
adversely affect adjacent residents, taking into consideration impacts on access to daylight 
and sunlight, overshadowing, privacy and overlooking. 
 
The proposed building would be at least 22m away from the rear boundary, where the main 
houses of 51-54 Windmill Fields are at least 13m further away. Given this distance, the 
impacts on their residential amenities are also likely to be acceptable.  
 
The proposal has no habitable room window on the first floor side elevation. The only first floor 
window on the side would be a bathroom window, and a condition on ensuring non-opening on 
lower level and obscure glazing would ensure there is no adverse overlooking issue.   
 
Given the orientation of the site, the proposed dwellings would sit at an angle to and behind 
the existing house at 43 Windmill Fields. There would be no concern on overshadowing or 
overbearing impact, but some concerns on overlooking into the rear side and the garden of 
this neighbour, especially given that the site is located to the north of 43 Windmill Fields. It is 
also considered that the slightly higher ground level of the application site would not affect the 
residential amenity of this neighbour due to the orientation of the site and the separation 
distance.  
 
The angle in which the proposed front elevation window could overlook the rear wall of no.43 
is no more than 6.5 degrees, while the distance is at least 8.5m. Given the distance and angle 
of view, it is considered that amount of overlooking would not be detrimental.  
 
With the amended drawings, the proposal would be 3m away from the main house of the 
neighbour to the north, i.e. 21 Roden Close, which is 0.5m more than the existing bungalow. 
The proposed building would only be less than 0.7m beyond the existing rear building line of 
the neighbouring house. This is not considered to be a significant amount and would a refusal 
on overbearing or overshadowing would not be justified.  
 

12



 
 

 

It is therefore considered that the proposed extensions would have acceptable impacts on the 
living conditions of neighbouring residents, in accordance with Policy PL2 of the HLDP and the 
Harlow Design Guide SPD.  
 
Parking and Highway  
 
Policy IN3 of the HLDP and the Essex Parking Standards require dwellings with two or more 
bedrooms to have two off-street vehicle parking spaces.  
 
The proposed drawing shows that each proposed dwelling would have two off-street parking 
spaces, which complies with the Essex Parking Standards. Each parking space measures at 
2.9m x 5.5m, which is also parking guide compliance.  
 
Although the proposal would relocate the site access, given the residential nature of the 
surrounding area it is considered that the proposed access is unlikely to cause adverse 
highway issues. The access to the site is 5m in width, in accordance with the Highway 
Officer’s advice. The Highway Officer was consulted and has no objection to the proposed 
development including the proposed parking and access arrangement. There is no apparent 
reason for the LPA to arrive at a different conclusion.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development would be acceptable in terms of 
parking and access, and therefore comply with Policies IN2 and IN3 of the HLDP and the 
Essex Parking Standards.  
 
Roden Close and Windmill Field are unclassified roads. Essex County Council’s Highway 
Officer pointed out that the relocation of lamppost and installation of dropped kerb and 
crossover would be handled by an application with Essex Highways.  This is a matter outside 
the scope of the determination of this application.  
 
Refuse storage and collection  
 
The proposed drawings show that the bins would be stored to the side of each house. Given 
the site is located within an existing residential area, refuse collection would be manageable 
via the existing services to the area. It is therefore considered that the proposal would not 
result in any adverse problem on refuse storage and collection.  
 
Equalities Impact 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which came into force on 5th April 2011, imposes 
important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions, including a duty to have 
regard to the need to: 
 
“(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it.” 
 
For the purposes of this obligation the term “protected characteristic” includes: 
- age; 
- disability; 
- gender reassignment; 
- pregnancy and maternity; 
- race; 

13



 
 

 

- religion or belief; 
- sex; 
- sexual orientation. 
 
The above duties require an authority to demonstrate that any decision it makes is reached “in 
a fair, transparent and accountable way, considering the needs and the rights of different 
members of the community and the duty applies to a local planning authority when 
determining a planning application. 
 
Officers consider that the application does not give rise to any concerns in respect of the 
above. 
 
Neighbour representations 
 
The concerns regarding design, character and appearance, residential amenity, trees and 
landscaping, and parking and highways have been discussed above.  
 
A neighbour noted that there appears to be a covenant restricting only one dwelling would be 
allowed on this site. . Covenant control would be handled outside the planning application 
procedure and is not a material planning consideration in this case.  
 
There are also neighbours concerned about construction disturbance. These disruptions 
would be short-term. There are also relevant Environmental Health regulations to ensure 
works would be carried out in a considerable manner, such as construction hours. It would not 
be reasonable to refuse permission for this reason. A condition on Construction Management 
Plan is recommended. .  
 

CONCLUSIONS 
 
The proposed development would replace a detached existing bungalow with a pair of 
two-storey semi-detached dwellings. The loss of an existing house is acceptable as the 
proposal would result in a net gain of one additional dwelling.  
 
The application site is positioned on a distinct transitional location where to the North are 
mostly large detached houses and to the South are modest semi-detached dwellings. The 
proposal for a pair of two-storey semi-detached houses would integrate into the housing 
cluster of Windmill Field. The simple form and design of the proposal would be in keeping with 
the character and appearance of this section of Windmill Field.  
 
The existing hedging on the front curtilage and some trees within the garden would be 
removed to facilitate the development. However, there is no statutory protection against the 
removal. It is considered that appropriate replacement planting would mitigate the loss in 
amenity. Conditions on the submission of Arboricultural Method Statement and landscaping 
details are recommended.  
 
Amended drawings have been submitted to increase the distance between the proposed 
building and the site boundaries, thereby setting further away from the neighbouring 
properties to reduce impacts on the neighbour amenity. Given the scale, design, orientation 
and location of the proposal, it is considered that the impact on neighbour amenity would be 
acceptable.  
The proposed development has provided sufficient parking spaces to meet the relevant policy 
requirement, and would not result in any highway safety issues.  
 

14



 
 

 

The application site is located within an established residential area and relates to an existing 
residential property. It is likely that refused storage and collection could be managed via the 
existing services to the area.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development would comply with Policies PL1, 
PL2, H2, H4, PL3, PL7, PL8, IN2 and IN3. It is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Committee resolve to: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
 REASON:  In order to comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 Prior to the commencement of development, comprehensive details of all the external 

materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
These details shall include, walls, roof, windows, doors, soffits, guttering and mortar 
mix.  Where appropriate, a sample panel of a minimum 1m² shall be erected on site to 
demonstrate the use of materials proposed.  The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in strict accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON:  In the interest of visual amenity and to accord with policy PL1 of the 
Harlow Local Development Plan, December 2020. 

 
 3 No development or other operations shall commence on site in connection with the 

development hereby approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition 
works, soil moving, temporary access construction and/or widening or any other 
operations involving the use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until full 
details of both hard and soft landscaping proposals have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. These shall include: 

  

 Details and locations of hard surfacing 

 Details of replacement planting such as planting plans, schedule of plants to be 
used, planting techniques and aftercare 

 Details of soft landscaping within the front curtilage facing the highway 

 Details of all boundary treatments  

 A method statement for implementation and maintenance 
  
 REASON:  To ensure satisfactory landscape treatment of the site in the interests 

of visual amenity and to enhance the development in the interests of visual 
amenity and to accord with policies PL1, PL7 and PL8 of Harlow Local 
Development Plan, December 2020. 

 
 4 No development shall take place on site, including site clearance, tree works, 

demolition or any other works, until details relevant to the safe retention and protection 
of trees are submitted within an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) in accordance 
with current BS5837 recommendations. Following written approval of the AMS the 
development will be undertaken in accordance with the approved details unless 
otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.  

15



 
 

 

 
The AMS shall include a detailed Tree Protection Plan showing the positions and 
dimensions of protective fencing (and if necessary temporary ground protection) to 
safeguard all retained vegetation. 

 
The AMS shall include all relevant details such as level changes, demolition and 
construction techniques (including methods of access and construction traffic 
management), location of services and drainage, design detail of structures and 
foundations, and the control of potentially damaging operations such as burning, 
storage and the handling of materials, and access and the parking of vehicles during 
construction. Details of supervision at key stages of development will also be included. 
 
REASON:  To ensure that damage to vegetation identified for retention is 
avoided and to comply with the duties indicated in Section 197 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and policies PL7 and PL8 of Harlow Local 
Development Plan, December 2020. 

 
 
5  No development shall take place on site, including site clearance, tree works, 

demolition or any other works, until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The plan shall provide the 
following all clear of the highway:  
• Safe access into the site  
• The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
• Loading and unloading of plants and materials  
• Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
• Wheel and underbody washing facilities 
• Routing of construction traffic  
• Measures to minimise dust production  
 
Acceptable construction hours are between 8.00 and 18.30 on Mondays to Fridays and 
8.00 and 13.00 on Saturdays. No construction work should take place or plant 
operated outside these hours.  
REASON: To minimise disruption to neighbours and obstruction of the highway 
in light of Policies PL2 and IN2 of the Harlow Local Development Plan, 
December 2020.  
 
 

6  Notwithstanding the approved details Any first floor windows to be installed to the side 
elevations of the dwellinghouses hereby permitted shall be glazed with obscured glass 
and be non-opening to a minimum height of 1.7 metres above internal floor level, and 
shall be permanently retained in that form.  
REASON:  To protect the privacy of the adjoining property and to prevent 
overlooking, and to accord with policy PL2 of the Harlow Local Development 
Plan, December 2020 

 
7  Prior to the first occupation of the development, hereby permitted, the vehicle parking 

as indicated on the approved plans shall be provided, hard surfaced, sealed and 
marked out. The parking area shall be retained in perpetuity for their intended purpose.  

 REASON: To ensure that appropriate parking and turning is provided in 
accordance with policy IN3 of the Harlow Local Development Plan, December 
2020. 

 

16



 
 

 

 8 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans as shown listed in the table below. 

  REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
Plan Reference Version No. Plan Type Date Received 

 
PL.001A A Proposed Site Plan 22.06.2021 

PL.002A A Proposed Ground Floor Plan 22.06.2021 

PL.003A A Proposed First Floor 
& Roof Plan 

22.06.2021 

PL.004A A Proposed Elevations (1 of 2) 22.06.2021 

PL.005A A Proposed Elevations (2 of 2) 22.06.2021 

  
INFORMATIVE CLAUSES 
 
 1. The proposed development is acceptable in principle and would not result in significant 

harm to the character and appearance of the area or neighbouring amenity.  The 
proposal is therefore considered to be in general compliance with the Development 
Plan, with no outstanding issues and is recommended for approval accordingly. 

 
 
2.  All British birds, their nests and eggs are protected by law under Section 1 of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981(as amended) and the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000. This makes it an offence to; 

 Kill, injure or take a wild bird 

 Take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being 
built 

 Disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule 1 * while it is nest building, or at a nest 
containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a bird 
* For a list of species included within Schedule 1 please refer to the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 
If at any time nesting birds are observed during tree work operations should cease. 

 
The bird nesting season usually covers the period from mid-February to the end of 
August, however it is very dependent on the weather and certain species of birds may 
nest well outside this period. 

 
 
3.  In Britain all species of bat are protected through their inclusion in Schedule 5 of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). This makes it an offence under 
Section 9 of the Act to: 

 Intentionally kill, injure or take a bat; 

 Sell, hire, barter or exchange a bat, dead or alive; 

 Be in possession or control of a bat or anything derived from them. 
 

As from January 2001 it has become an offence in England or Wales, intentionally or 
recklessly to; 

 Disturb a bat; 

 Damage, destroy or block access to the resting place of any bat. 
 

17



 
 

 

If at any time bats or evidence of bats are observed during tree work operations should 
cease. 

 
 
 
 

18



HW/FUL/21/00231 – 20 Roden Close 

 

 Existing Site Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
 

19



Proposed Site Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20



Proposed Tree Retention and Removal Plan  

  

21



Proposed Ground Floor Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

22



Proposed First Floor Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

23



Proposed Front Elevation  

 

24



Proposed Rear Elevation  

 
 
 

25



Proposed Side Elevations  

 
 
 
 
 
 

26



REPORT TO DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 7th July 2021 
 
REFERENCE: 
HW/HSE/21/00212 
 

 OFFICER: John Harrison 

APPLICANT: 
 

Mr C Ellius Dennehy 

LOCATION: 
 

18 Whieldon Grange 
Harlow 
Essex 
CM17 9WG 
 

PROPOSAL: 
 

First Floor Side Extension Over Existing Garage 

 
LOCATION PLAN 
 

  
This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction 
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  Harlow District Council Licence No.100019627 (2015) 

 
REASON BROUGHT TO COMMITTEE: More than two representations have been 
received which are contrary to the officer recommendation 
  

27

Agenda Item 8



Application Site and Surroundings 
 
The application property is a three-bedroomed detached house, located close to the junction 
with Kiln Lane.  The property is the middle one of three houses on the west side of Whieldon 
Grange.  These houses have a similar design when viewed from the front. . Though of the 
same basic design the three houses are finished in different materials and the one to the north, 
number 17, is handed, i.e. a mirror image, compared with the other two. They are built with 
gabled ends and a roof ridge running parallel to the road. In addition they have a prominent 
first-floor gabled feature on the front elevation which has an open area underneath which 
gives protection to the front door. The houses also have an attached garage, on the northern 
side in the case of 18 and 19 and the southern side in the case of 17.  
 
The garages have their roof ridges parallel to the road so the roof shape echoes that on the 
main house.   The garages are set well back behind the main front wall of the houses with their 
front walls almost directly below the roof ridge of the houses, in the case of 18 a distance of 3.5 
metres from the main front wall of the house and over 6 metres from the back of the pavement. 
Between 17 and 18’s garages is a metre wide footpath which provides access to the two 
houses’ rear gardens. Although it provides access to both gardens, it belongs to number 18 
and the occupiers of number 17 have a right of way across it. This has been verified from 18’s 
deeds.  
 
The houses have relatively small rear gardens; the distance from the main rear wall of 18 to 
the rear boundary being 9 metres. There is, however, a single-storey element projecting from 
18’s rear wall, which lines up with the rear wall of the garage, i.e. the garage and this projecting 
element form an L-shaped part which “wraps around” the two-storey house.  
 
Whieldon Grange is a relatively narrow road, being 4.5 metres in width and is the subject of a 
20mph speed limit. The site is not in a Conservation Area and isnot close to Listed Buildings. 
 
Details of the Proposal 
 
The application is for a first-floor extension over the garage to provide an additional bedroom 
with an en suite behind. This would be 3 metres wide and 5.65 metres deep. The additional 
height resulting from the development would be 2.55 metres. The roof would have the same 
pitch and form as the existing garage roof and the house. The ridge would be set below the 
roof ridge of the house. There would be a large window at the front and a smaller one to serve 
the en suite at the rear. The application indicates that matching materials will be used.  
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY   
 
There is no relevant planning history. 
 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Internal and external Consultees 
 
No Comment Received. 
 

Neighbours and Additional Publicity 
 
Number of Letters Sent: 6 
Total Number of Representations Received: 2 

28



Date Site Notice Expired:  
Date Press Notice Expired:  
 

Summary of Representations Received 
 
2 objections from the local residents are received. Their objection reasons are summarised as 
follows: 
 
Concern about construction vehicles parking; they cannot park on the pavement and parking 
on the road will make it tight for other traffic; would not expect any vehicles to park outside own 
home, concerned about construction dust and dirt as spend a lot of time in their garden; would 
not be very nice during summer if work carried out then; loss of privacy in garden from workers 
overlooking. ,  
 
Difficulties with traffic using Whieldon Grange will be exacerbated, risk to children using slope 
in road for cycles, skateboards, etc; road is a pedestrian throughfare for Henry Moore Primary 
School, students using the bus, Kiddi Caru Nursery and Harlow Common and pavement 
parking causes walking in the road, builderspaid strict attention to the design of their houses 
and the layout of their development, houses with 4 bedrooms have two parking spaces plus a 
garage, cars parked in front of 18 restrict access to their own driveway; roofline will be above 
what was intended spoiling the builder's original intentions; will be overbearing to no 17, likely 
loss of parking space during construction, blocking road and pavement during construction, 
difficulty leaving driveway during construction. 
 
 

PLANNING POLICY 
 
The following polices of the Harlow Local Development Plan (2020) are relevant to this 
application: 
 
PL1- Design Principles for Development 
PL2 - Amenity Principles for Development   
IN3 - Parking Standards 
 

PLANNING STANDARDS 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) - sets out the Government’s key 
economic, social and environmental objectives and the planning policies to deliver them. 
These policies will provide local communities with the tools they need to energise their local 
economies, meet housing needs, plan for a low-carbon future and protect the environmental 
and cultural landscapes that they value. It seeks to free communities from unnecessarily 
prescriptive central government policies, empowering local councils to deliver innovative 
solutions that work for their local area. 
 

Supplementary Planning Documents/Current Planning Guidance 
 
The Harlow Design Guide SPD (2011) 
The Essex Parking Standards: Design and Good Practice (2009)  
 

Summary of Main Issues 
 
As this is an application to extend a residential property in a residential area, the principle of 
the development is acceptable. As with most domestic extensions, the issues to be 

29



considered are the appearance of the proposal and impact on neighbours. As neighbours 
have raised issues of parking and construction impacts, it is also necessary to consider these.  
 
Appearance  
 
Policy PL1 of the Harlow Local Development Plan 2020 (HLDP) and Principle DG47 of the 
Harlow Design Guide SPD state that proposals for householder developments should respect 
the size, grain, height, materials, features and layout of the building to be extended. 
Extensions should be subordinate to the host property. The Design Guide also states that 
first-floor extensions on detached houses should be set in at least a metre from the side 
boundary to avoid a terracing effect 
 
The proposed extension is considered to relate satisfactorily to the host dwelling host dwelling; 
the windows on the extension lining up with those on the house itself and the extension’s roof 
form echoing that of the house. There will be some erosion of the gap at first-floor level 
between 17 and 18.. However, as the footpath between 17 and 18 is in 18’s ownership and 
this footpath is exactly a metre wide, a metre gap would be retained. Because 17’s boundary is 
with the northern side of the footpath, any first-floor side extension proposed on that house in 
the future would have to be at least a metre away from the footpath.  Such an extension would 
be somewhat narrow and if one were proposed there would still be the two-metre separation 
required by the Design Guide between first-floor extensions. Thus, though there would be 
some loss of separation between 17 and 18 at first-floor level, it is not considered this would 
justify refusing the application. The proposal would therefore retain the gaps between 
properties and would be in accordance with the Design Guide.  
 
One neighbour has criticised the height of the extension roof, but it is below the height of the 
main house roof so the extension appears subservient. The extension’s roof height is 
therefore considered acceptable. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the 
Design Guide and Policy PL1 of the Local Plan. 
As this extension is on one side of the house, the only neighbour likely to be significantly 
affected in terms of loss of light or outlook or overlooking is the house to the north, number 17. 
The occupiers have not objected to the application.  The house has a ground floor side-facing 
window which serves a cloakroom and another at first-floor level which serves the landing and 
stairs. These are not habitable rooms. Thus, though they would lose some light, this would not 
justify refusing the application. The extension does extend beyond 17’s main rear wall, slightly 
less than two metres, and have a limited impact on their first-floor windows. This will be a very 
limited impact, however, because of the separation resulting from the footpath and 17’s 
garage. Furthermore, the nearest first-floor windows serve bathrooms. Thus, the proposal 
would not affect any of 17’s habitable rooms and therefore the proposal is considered to 
comply with Local Plan Policy PL2. 
 
Parking  
 
The house has two parking spaces, one in the garage and one in front of the garage. The 
proposal increases the number of bedrooms in number 18 from three to four. The Essex 
County Council Parking Standards specify one space for single-bedroom dwellings and two 
spaces for those with two or more. Thus, there would be no breach of the standards. 
Furthermore, Whieldon Grange is a relatively narrow road designed to discourage fast driving 
and it is subject to a 20mph limit. Whilst parking on the road or pavement could cause some 
inconvenience it is not likely to result in major accidents. Given the proposal does not result in 
a breach of the parking standards and the restricting nature of the road, it would not be 
possible to justify refusing the application on the basis of parking provision and therefore a 
breach of Local Plan Policy IN3. 
 
Construction Impacts 

30



 
Given the tight nature of the development and the narrowness of the road, some disruption will 
inevitably occur during construction. This, however, is a small-scale scheme and the 
construction period would be relatively short. Such issues arise with all minor building works, 
but it is not reasonable to refuse applications for them for such reasons. In this instance, 
however, the development is quite a tight one with houses close together and the road is 
relatively narrow. Furthermore neighbours have raised concerns about construction impacts. 
In this instance, unusually for a small-scale scheme, it is considered appropriate to impose a 
condition requiring the approval of a construction management plan. The applicant has agreed 
to this – this is a legal requirement as the condition requires the approval of a scheme before 
works commence. The scheme would cover all relevant aspects of working such as hours of 
operation, but what will be particularly important is it will need to control parking of construction 
and contractor’s vehicles. It is envisaged they would only be brought to the site for loading and 
unloading and, once this has been completed, parked elsewhere. 
 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which came into force on 5th April 2011, imposes 
important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions,  including a duty to 
have regard to the need to: 
 
“(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it.” 
 
For the purposes of this obligation the term “protected characteristic” includes: 
- age; 
- disability; 
- gender reassignment; 
- pregnancy and maternity; 
- race; 
- religion or belief; 
- sex; 
- sexual orientation. 
 
The above duties require an authority to demonstrate that any decision it makes is reached “in 
a fair, transparent and accountable way, considering the needs and the rights of different 
members of the community and the duty applies to a local planning authority when 
determining a planning application. 
 
Officers consider that the application does not give rise to any concerns in respect of  
the above. 
 

CONCLUSIONS 

 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable in appearance terms and it does not significantly 
affect neighbours in terms of loss of light or outlook or overlooking. It complies with the Essex 
County Council Parking Standards. Thus, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies 
PL1, PL2 and IN3 of the Local Plan and approval is recommended.  
 

31



 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Committee resolve to: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
 REASON:  In order to comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2 No work shall start on site until a construction management plan has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. All construction work shall be carried 
out in full accordance with the construction management plan. 

REASON: To minimise disruption to neighbours and obstruction of the highway 
in the light of policies PL2 and IN2 of the Harlow Local Development Plan (2020). 

 3 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans as shown listed in the table below. 

  
 REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
Plan Reference Version No. Plan Type Date Received 

967.01  --  Existing and Proposed Flr and 
Elevations 

13.04.2021 

  
 
 
 
 
INFORMATIVE CLAUSES 
 
 1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and 
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

32



 

33



 

Existing elevations  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed elevations  

 

34



 

 

Proposed first-floor plan  

35


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 HW/FUL/21/00231 - 20 Roden Close, Harlow, Essex, CM17 0LE
	21.00231 - Plans Pack - 20 Roden Close

	8 HW/HSE/21/00212 - 18 Whieldon Grange, Harlow, Essex, CM17 9WG
	HWHSE2100212 - 18 whieldon Grange Plans Pack_


